2007

Wesley O. Bayles v. Linda Caryl Bayles : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The jurisdiction of this case is vested with the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(h), and pursuant to Rules 3(a) and 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

CONTRACTS

1. Whether the trial court erred in its interpretation of various "California Residential Purchase Agreements" and its conclusion of law as stated within the court's "Findings of Fact" #13.

Determinative Law: "Contracts, made either before or after marriage, the purpose of which is to fix property rights between a husband and wife, are to be liberally interpreted to carry out the intentions of the makers and to uphold such contracts where they are fairly and understandably made, are just and equitable in their provisions, and are not obtained by fraud or overreaching ."

Matlock v. Matlock, 223 Kan 679, 576 P.2d 629, 633 (1978)

Standard of Review: Interpretation of a contract presents a question of law for which the trial court's determination is reviewed under a correction of error standard, according no particular deference to the trial court's decision.

DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

4. Whether the trial court erred in the distribution of Respondent/Appellee's "Woodward" share of Petitioner/Appellant's retirement benefits.

Determinative Law: "It is preferable to end the marriage and allow the parties to make as much of a clean break from each other as is reasonably possible." Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 at 1079 (Utah App.1988) "Pursuant to Woodward, the preferred method for doing so is to fix the other spouse's share of the pension plan, as adjusted for all the appropriate considerations, and satisfy the other spouse's share out of other assets, thereby leaving all pension benefits to the employee." See Woodward 656 P.2d 431 at 433 (Utah App. 1982). "This is especially true when there are sufficient other assets for equitable distribution and a present value of the retirement benefits can be established." See Cambers v. Chambers, 840 p.2d 841 at 845 (Utah App. 1992) citing Motes v Motes, 786 P.2d 232 at 234 (Utah App 1989).

Standard of Review: The trial court's determination is reviewed under a correction of error standard, according no particular deference to the trial court.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an appeal from the final judgement and "Order Modifying Decree of Divorce" of the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County, State of Utah, Honorable Thomas L. Kay, presiding, filed March 21, 2007 following a hearing on July 3, 2006 during which the court considered the following matters:

CONTRACTS

1.) whether Mrs. Bayles, Respondent/Appellee, should be held in contempt for breach of contract, and compelled to give specific performance in connection with two (2) "California Vacant Land Purchase Agreements" and a "California Residential Purchase Agreement" entered into by Mrs. Bayles, under which Mr. Bayles, Petitioner/Appellant, exercised a right of first refusal granted him by the court in the interlocutory "Decree of Divorce". Such issues were certified for trial by an "Order on Order to Show Cause" filed April 7, 2005 (Record on Appeal page 400)

DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

2.) a "Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce" filed June 2, 2004 (Record on Appeal page 244) as provided by the interlocutory "Decree of Divorce" (Record on Appeal page 167) the amount of a Survivor Benefit awarded to Respondent/Appellee, and which party should pay the monthly cost, which issues the Court reserved for future determination, subject to a provision that Petitioner/Appellant should not elect a reduced survivor benefit prior to the Court's determination as to the amount and who should pay the monthly cost. (see "Decree of Divorce", paragraphs #24, #26 and #27.)

Petitioner/Appellant objects to the provisions of the Courts "Order Modifying the Decree of Divorce" concerning (among other matters): 1) the trial court's interpretation of the various California Purchase Agreements; and 2) The manner of distributing RespondentAppallee's share of Petitioner/Apellant's retirement benefits;

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Mr. Bayles, the Petitioner/Appellant was granted an interlocutory "Decree of Divorce" from Mrs. Bayles, Respondent/Appellee by the Second Judicial District Court, Davis County, State of Utah filed November 25, 2002, effective October 2, 2002. (See Decree of Divorce, page 1., paragraph 2.)

CONTRACTS

2. At the time of the divorce the parties held eight (8) parcels of real property in the State of California as follows: (Decree of Divorce, page 3., paragraph 12.)

- 1.) three (3) parcels together with a double-wide mobile home;
- 2.) a personal residence;
- 3.) two (2) parcels together known as the "Beehive Mine" property;
- 4.) a 23-acre parcel known as the "lake" property; and
- 5.) a 5-acre parcel.

3. The "Decree of Divorce" ordered that all the California real properties be sold and the net proceeds be split 50/50 between Appellant and Appellee. The decree further awarded a Right of First Refusal to Petitioner/Appellant to acquire Respondent/Appellee's interest in the property upon her acceptance of a bona-fide offer. The "Right" was to be based on the same terms as the bona-fide offer and was to be executed within 30 days of being notified by Respondent/Appellee of her acceptance of an offer. Petitioner/Appellant was ordered to pay Respondent/Appellee the amount she would receive from the sale of the parcel based on the same terms of the bona-fide offer and was to make payment within 30 days of Petitioner/Appellant's exercise of his right of first refusal. (Decree of Divorce, page 4., paragraph 15 & 17)

4. On May 13, 2003 shortly after the divorce the three (3) parcels with the mobile home were sold to a third party through escrow. Respondent/Appellee received \$44,419.80 at the escrow closing of that sale. (Transcript of Trial, page 73, lines 10 - 13)

5. During May of 2003 Appellant exercised his Right of First Refusal under a Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract to purchase Appellee's interest in the California personal residence. On or about June 4, 2003 Appellant paid the sum of \$39,286.74 for that interest. Appellee accepted the payment, gave a quit-claim deed, and demanded an additional amount of \$4,350 which the trial court awarded her. (Transcript of Trial, page 75, lines 1 - 6) Appellee refused to comply with any of the terms of the Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract. In it's Order Modifying Decree of Divorce entered March 21, 2007 the trial court found that Appellee was in breach of the contract but denied an order for specific performance finding she is not required to comply with any of the terms of the sales agreement, which is one of the issues of this appeal.

6. During November, 2004 Appellant exercised his Right of First Refusal under a Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract to purchase Appellee's interest in California real property (consisting of two (2) parcels) known as the "Beehive Mine" property. On or about Dec 6, 2004 Appellant paid the sum of \$25,596.22 for that interest. Payment was sent along with a letter in which Petitioner/Appellant demanded Respondent/Appellee comply with the terms of the bona-fide contract. (Transcript of Trial, page 75, lines 13 - 25) She accepted the payment, but refused to open escrow or comply with any of the terms of the Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract. In it's Order Modifying Decree of Divorce the trial court found Appellee was in breach of the contract but denied an order for specific performance finding she is not required to comply with any of the terms of the sales agreement, which is one of the issues of this appeal.

7. During February, 2005 Appellant exercised his Right of First Refusal under a Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract to purchase Appellee's interest in the California real property known as the "Lake" property. On or about Mar 5, 2005 Appellant paid the sum of \$38,866.71 for that interest. Payment was sent along with a letter in which Petitioner/Appellant demanded Respondent/Appellee comply with the terms of the bona-fide contract. (Transcript of Trial, page 76, lines 7 - 16) She accepted the payment, but refused to open escrow, deliver a deed, or comply with any of the terms of the Uniform Real Estate Sales Contract. In it's Order Modifying Decree of Divorce the trial court

found Appellee was in breach of the contract but denied an order for specific performance finding she is not required to comply with any of the terms of the sales agreement, which is one of the issues of this appeal.

DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

8. The interlocutory "Decree of Divorce" awarded Respondent/Appellee a "Woodward" share of Petitioner/Appellant's retirement benefits and a 100% survivor benefit pending Petitioner/Appellant's retirement. The decree specifically provided that his retirement would be sufficient grounds for a petition for modification to determine the proper amount of survivor benefit and who should be required to pay the cost of that benefit. (Decree of Divorce, page 6., paragraph 24.)

9. The interlocutory decree reserved for future determination the issue of the proper amount of survivor benefits to be awarded and the issue of which party should pay the monthly cost to be determined at the time of Petitioner/Appellant's retirement. However, in order to avoid forfeiture of the ability to elect a full survivor benefit, the court ordered Appellant to not elect a reduced survivor benefit. (Decree of Divorce, page 7., paragraph 26 & 27.)

10. Petitioner/Appellant retired on disability effective November 31, 2002. (Transcript of Trial, page 26, lines 17 - 21) Upon retirement he elected a 100% survivor benefit pursuant to the trial court's order within the Decree of Divorce, pending determination of the court as to the appropriate amount of the survivor benefit and who should pay the cost of that benefit.

11. A hearing was held regarding the "Petition to Modify" on July 3, 2006. The trial court rendered it's decision on the Petition on July 5, 2006. The "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" and the "Order Modifying Decree of Divorce" were final upon their filing on March 21, 2007.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. **CONTRACTS**: The trial court incorrectly interpreted the plain language of each of the California Purchase Agreements. The trial court committed legal error by incorrectly selecting only one element or provision of each of three (3) California Purchase Agreements (ie: the consideration to be paid) in it's application of established or normal rules of contract construction or interpretation. By selecting only one element of each of the contracts, the court effectively created unenforceable unilateral contracts. Thus, Plaintiff/Appellant's payment for each of the properties should be returned and the properties placed back on the market to obtain truly bona-fide enforceable purchase offers. However, the transactions between the parties as to each parcel of property, meet the longstanding "offer, acceptance and tender" requirements of any contract transaction. Mrs. Bayles received the benefit of tender, to the detriment of Mr. Bayles and the court's equitable powers do not allow the trial court to modify a transaction simply because one of the parties has come to regret the agreement. Mr. Bayles is entitled to specific performance as to each contract for his purchase of Mrs. Bayles's interest in each of the contracts.

2. **DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS**: The trial court committed legal error by not applying the plain language of various Utah Appellate Court Cases which establish fixed principles for distribution of vested retirement benefits. Especially where the present value of an annuity can easily be determined and where there are sufficient assets to provide a lump sum "cash-out" of the Respondent/Appellee's marital interest in the annuity. While the court properly applied the "Woodward" formula for determining the proper portion of the spousal interest, it clearly failed to apply the proper manner of distribution of that interest as established in the "Woodward" case as well as other cases.

ARGUMENT

CONTRACTS

1. Mr. Bayles, the Petitioner/Appellant, is entitled to specific performance relative to the purchase of Mrs. Bayles's one-half interest in each of the California properties.

2. The Utah Supreme Court has long recognized the validity of the rule that "to be enforceable a contract must be sufficiently definite in its terms that the parties know what is required of them" Pitcher v. Lauritzen, 423 P.2d 491 (Utah App. 1967); and Kier v. Condrack, 478 P.2d 327 (Utah App. 1970).

3. Under the evidence and the particular facts of this case there is no dispute that Mr. Bayles agreed to purchase Mrs. Bayles's interest in each of the subject properties. Mrs. Bayles agreed to open an escrow and provide other products and services in consideration of payment by Mr. Bayles of the agreed upon tender.

4. Mrs. Bayles negotiated the terms of each of the three contracts in this case with third parties, without the involvement of Mr. Bayles in any way. When all terms had been accepted by Mrs. Bayles, she then presented them to Mr. Bayles who had the opportunity to either accept them, reject them, modify them, or exercise his right of first refusal to purchase Mrs. Bayles's interest by paying her what she would receive if they were sold to the third parties. (Paragraph #15 of the Decree of Divorce is ambiguous as to whether "what she would" receive means gross or net. Paragraph #17 appears to imply it means net.)

5. Kier is also applicable as to specific performance. There is no dispute in this case that Mr. Bayles properly and timely exercised his right of first refusal on each property and there is no dispute that Mr. Bayles timely tendered full payment of the gross purchase price within thirty (30) days as

required by paragraph #15 of the Decree of Divorce. Nor is there any dispute that Mrs. Bayles accepted and negotiated the payments and then refused to perform any of the agreed upon terms of the contracts. Again, the Utah Supreme Court found that if the parties

... should be obliged to act in good faith in keeping their promises. It would seem inequitable and unjust to permit a seller to simply refuse unreasonably to perform and seek specious excuses in an attempt to justify his refusal. ... But neither party should be permitted to use the reservation of "terms" to get more than they had promised: the plaintiff to get more land, or the defendants to get more money, **nor either to renege on the bargain** ... (emphasis added)

6. Mrs. Bayles's acceptance was "positive and unambiguous" as required by the Utah Supreme Court in R.J. Daum Constr. Co. v. Child, 122 Utah 194 (Utah 1952). Mrs. Bayles's actions in negotiating the payment and refusal to return payment did not change, add to, or qualify the terms of the contracts between the parties for the "sale" of Mrs. Bayles's interest in the California properties and "it's binding force cannot be affected by subsequent communications unless they amount to a mutual agreement to rescind." Id.

7. In the instant case Mrs. Bayles's terms were all set forth in the Real Estate Contracts she sent to Mr. Bayles. Mr. Bayles accepted those terms and tendered his "full payment" and demanded she perform her agreed upon terms. She has the use and benefit of the monies paid to the detriment of Mr. Bayles. Mrs. Bayles cannot hold hostage the agreed upon deeds and other products and services she agreed to provide. Mr. Bayles is entitled to specific performance as to the terms of the contracts or the return of his tender.

DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

8. It is well established that a person's interest in a retirement plan accrued during a marriage is considered a marital asset subject to equitable distribution upon divorce. See, e.g., Woodward v. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, 432 (Utah 1982).

9. The best method for distributing or allocating retirement benefits or their value depends on the particular circumstances. But where possible, the purpose to advance, is that of ending marriage and allowing the parties to make as much of a clean break from each other as is reasonably possible. Thus, as between decreeing a more immediate adjustment or simply deferring the other spouse's participation until payments are eventually received, our Supreme Court has stated that the latter alternative should be employed only in rare instances. See Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1079.

10. The Utah Appeals Court in Chambers v. Chambers, 840 P.2d 841 (Utah App. 1992) discussed the manner of distributing retirement benefits:

Pursuant to "Woodward", the preferred method for doing so is to fix the other spouse's share of the pension plan, as adjusted for all the appropriate considerations, and satisfy the other spouse's share out of other assets, **thereby leaving all pension benefits to the employee**. See Woodward, 656 p.2d 431 at 433. This is especially true when there are sufficient other assets for equitable distribution and a present value of the retirement benefits can be established. id. However, **in the case at bar, it would appear that the trial court did not even consider such possibility here**. Accordingly, the trial court's order with regard to Mr. Chambers's retirement benefit **is reversed and remanded with directions to reconsider it's division of Mr. Chambers's retirement benefits** under the analysis set forth in "Woodward", including particularly the preference for valuation of the non-employee spouse's share and it's immediate cash-out from other assets. (emphasis added) Chambers v. Chambers, 840 P.2d 841 (Utah App. 1992).

11. Obviously, postponing a distribution until monthly payments are received and incurring possible ongoing entanglement between the parties until one of them dies, is inimical to the goal of ending the marriage, making as much of a clean break as possible.

12. In a similar case the Utah Court of Appeals in Motes v. Motes, 786 P.2d 232 at 234 - 235 (Utah App. 1989) said:

"The instant case does not involve the difficult questions presented by retirement programs held by those still working, which will--or may--only eventually result in income. In the instant case, like in Greene, one spouse had already retired and his retirement benefits had ripened into monthly payments, see 751 P.2d 827 at 828, the present value of plaintiff's share of the now-fixed stream of income, which the benefits have become, can be readily calculated and compensated for with distribution of other assets having an equivalent value, or cashed out over a comparatively short time." **"Accordingly, we reverse the court's treatment of both parties' retirement funds and remand for distribution in accordance with the foregoing."** See Greene v Greene, 751 P.2d 827 (emphasis added)

As with "Greene", this instant case does not have the difficult issues of benefits not yet realized.

In the instant case Mr. Bayles has retired and the present value of his annuity is readily determinable.

CONCLUSION

CONTRACTS

1. The trial court incorrectly interpreted the plain language of each of the three (3) California Purchase Agreements. The trial court committed legal error by incorrectly selecting only one element or provision of each of the three (3) California Purchase Agreements (ie: the consideration to be paid) in it's application of established or normal rules of contract construction or interpretation. By selecting only one element of each of the contracts, the trial court effectively created unenforceable unilateral contracts. Thus, Plaintiff/Appellant's payment for each of the properties should be returned and the properties placed back on the market to obtain truly bona-fide enforceable purchase offers.

2. It was judicial error for the trial court to refuse to order specific performance or return the monies Petitioner/Appellant paid to Respondent/Appellee. The ruling of the trial court should be reversed and Respondent/Appellee should be ordered to either return all monies she was paid under the three (3) California Purchase Agreements, or provide all the services and products called for within the four corners of the contract.

DISTRIBUTION OF RETIREMENT BENEFITS

3. The trial court incorrectly interpreted the plain language of a body of Utah Appellate case law which establish fixed principles for distribution of vested retirement benefits. Especially where the present value of the retirement annuity can easily be determined and where there are sufficient assets to provide a lump sum "cash-out" of the Respondent/Appellee's marital interest in the annuity. Thus the trial court erred in the distribution of Respondent/Appellee's "Woodward" share of Petitioner/Appellant's retirement benefits. While the court properly applied the "Woodward" formula for determining the proper portion of the spousal interest, it clearly failed to apply the proper manner of distribution of that interest as established in the "Woodward" case as well as other cases.

4. Accordingly, the trial court's order with regard to Mr. Bayles's retirement benefit should be reversed and remanded with directions to reconsider it's manner of distributing Mr. Bayles's retirement benefits under the analysis set forth in "Woodward" and the preference for valuation of the spouse's share and it's immediate cash-out from other assets.

5. Based on the foregoing, Mr. Bayles respectfully requests that the court reverse and remand with directions to reconsider it's division of Mr. Bayles's retirement benefits under the analysis set forth in "Woodward" and the preference for valuation of the spouse's share and it's immediate cash-out from other assets consistent with this court's decision.