2007

Wesley O. Bayles v. Linda Caryl Bayles : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The Petitioner/Appellant has the burden to “marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court’s findings are so lacking in support as to be ‘against the clear weight of the evidence,’ thus making them ‘clearly erroneous’.” *Hagan v. Hagan*, 810 P.2D 478 (Utah App. 1991). He has failed to meet this burden, and thus the Court must assume that the findings of fact of the trial court are supported by the record.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that Respondent did not have to comply with the terms of sales contracts other than providing Petitioner with an appropriate deed, and refusing to find Respondent in contempt for not complying with all terms contained in the sales of the various California parcels.

3. It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to enter one order in which the court terminated alimony, ordered that there would be no change in the payment of the cost of the survivor benefit for Respondent on Petitioner’s retirement, and as an offset to the amount Petitioner is ordered to pay for the retirement, awarded Petitioner the entire

five-acre parcel of California property. This financial package must be looked at in its entirety, and in its entirety it is equitable. This order carried out the trial court's intention to equally divide between the parties the value of the marital properties.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER/APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT.

The Petitioner/Appellant fails to meet the standard of appellate review to overturn the trial court's decision. He has the burden to "marshall the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous'." *Hagan v. Hagan*, 810 P.2D 478 (Utah App. 1991).

Mr. Bayles has not, in "comprehensive and fastidious order, [marshaled] every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings [he] resists." *Moon v. Moon*, 973 P. 2d 431, 437 (Utah App. 1999) Instead of meeting his burden, Mr. Bayles simply states the facts as he wanted them to be. In cases such as this, the Court has stated that it will " . . .[assume] that the record supports the findings of the trial court and [this Court] proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law to the case." *Shepherd v. Shepherd*, 876 P.2d 429, 432 (Utah App. 1994). Even if Mr. Bayles had met the first prong of marshalling the evidence, he has failed to met the second prong, which calls for an analysis to expose any "fatal flaw in the evidence" sufficient to overturn the trial court's findings. *Moon*, 973 P.2d 431, 437.

Since Mr. Bayles has not met his burden, this court should find the trial court's findings are supported by the record.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT ATTEMPTING TO INTERPRET CALIFORNIA RESIDENTIAL PURCHASE AGREEMENTS BUT WAS DETERMINING RESPONDENT'S OBLIGATION TO PETITIONER WHEN HE EXERCISED HIS RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT REFUSED TO ORDER SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

The Petitioner is attempting to raise again the issues raised, at least in part, and determined, in the prior appeal of this case concerning Respondent's obligations to Petitioner in connection with Petitioner's exercise of a right of first refusal to purchase Respondent's interest in certain marital properties located in California. To the extent those issues are raised again here, they are res judicata.

The trial court was not asked to interpret California Residential Purchase Agreements, nor did the Court do so. The Court was asked to determine whether Respondent should be required to provide additional services or benefits to Petitioner after he exercised his right of first refusal to purchase Respondent's interest in certain marital properties located in California, after tendering his payment to Respondent for her interest.

In essence, the Court was asked to interpret its own intention as embodied in the Decree of Divorce concerning the respective rights and duties of the parties. Mr. Bayles argues that there was a contract between himself and Mrs. Bayles for each parcel of property when he exercised his right of first refusal and purchased her interest in those properties. No evidence was presented to the trial court that would create any contract between Mr. Bayles

and Mrs. Bayles concerning those properties, and no evidence is cited by Mr. Bayles other than the existence of certain contracts with third parties for the purchase of those marital properties.

The trial court made a specific finding that “if Petitioner wished to have Respondent comply with the terms of the sales contracts, then Petitioner should have done them prior to the time he sent payment.” The court further found that “Petitioner did not demand compliance with the terms of the sales contracts until after payment had been made.” Finding of Fact ¶13, Record on Appeal page 445. As Mr. Bayles has failed to marshal the evidence against these findings, they are deemed to be supported by the record; further, his own statement of facts in his brief acknowledges that he did not demand compliance prior to making payment.

Even if Mr. Bayles was entitled, under equity and under the terms of the Decree of Divorce, to insist that Mrs. Bayles perform all terms of the sales contracts with third parties when he purchased her interest, he waived his right to demand compliance with all those terms. In *Tanner v. Baadsgaard*, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980), the seller (defendant in that case) was found to have waived strict compliance with the terms of the contract concerning time of payment, and specific performance was ordered. In the case at hand, Mr. Bayles waived any right to demand strict compliance (if he even had the right to demand strict compliance with the third-party contract) by tendering payment before demanding compliance. He has received title to the properties, and Mrs. Bayles has received her payment; each party has received the benefit contemplated by the Decree of Divorce. This

results in an equitable division of marital properties which lies within the sound discretion of the trial court, and which division should not be disturbed on appeal.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
WHEN IT ORDERED THAT EACH PARTY CONTINUE TO PAY A PORTION
OF THE COST FOR THE SURVIVOR BENEFIT BUT AWARDED MR. BAYLES
A PARCEL OF PROPERTY AS AN OFFSET
FOR THE EXPENSE OF THE SURVIVOR BENEFIT.**

To the extent that Mr. Bayles' brief seems to challenge the underlying division of retirement in this case, it is untimely, as that initial division was made in the original Decree of Divorce and was never challenged. The issue which was actually tried before the trial court concerning retirement, and the only issue concerning retirement which can be considered here, is the allocation of the monthly cost to maintain a survivor benefit for Respondent. This brief addresses that issue.

It was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to enter one unified order in which the court terminated alimony; ordered that there would be no change in the payment of the cost of the survivor benefit for Respondent on Petitioner's retirement; and as an offset to the amount Petitioner is ordered to pay for the retirement, awarded Petitioner the entire five-acre parcel of California property. The court crafted a composite solution to resolve several outstanding issues, and the court's order must be looked at as a whole, without isolating one or two items. Petitioner asks the court to strike down one part of this package, without addressing the five-acre parcel of property which was clearly awarded to Petitioner as an offset (emphasis added). While the trial court did not relieve Petitioner of the

responsibility to pay some (not all) of the cost of the survivor benefit which clearly will only benefit Respondent, the trial court gave Petitioner an asset with an estimated value of \$30,000. Petitioner has the ability to immediately sell that property and use the proceeds however he chooses; this includes \$15,000 which otherwise would have belonged to Respondent based on the Decree of Divorce ordering the parties to share equally the proceeds of the properties. The testimony clearly showed that Respondent was in need of the survivor benefit, but had no ability to pay directly for the survivor benefit.

Utah case law clearly favors an avoidance of continuing joint ownership in marital assets whenever possible. *Woodward v. Woodward*, 656 P.2d 431 (Utah 1982); *Parker v. Parker*, 996 P.2d 565 (Utah Ct. App. 2000). This case is a prime example of the wisdom of this policy, but not, as Mr. Bayles suggests, concerning the retirement. Rather, it is the California real estate which has generated the most problems between the parties. Therefore, an approach which allocates, once and for all, the final remaining California parcel, which remained unsold almost four years after the divorce became final, was not only within the sound discretion of the trial court, but a wise move to avoid future entanglements and disputes between the parties. As in *Parker*, the trial court's "disposition concerning this asset properly disentangled the (parties) from future acrimonious business involvement." 996 p.2d 565, 570, ¶19.

Further, despite Mr. Bayles' assertion to the contrary, this case exactly fits into the *Woodward* mold. Mr. Bayles' retirement benefit is not a liquidated fund; "...where no present value can be established and the parties are unable to reach agreement, resort must

be had to a deferred distribution based upon fixed percentages.” 656 P.2d 431, 433. That fixed percentage has also applied in this case to the amount each party pays for Respondent’s survivor benefit, due to the way the cost is calculated and paid. The case of *Motes v. Motes*, 786 P.2d 232 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) is apropos, as Mr. Motes was already retired at the time the decree of divorce was entered, and he was receiving monthly retirement benefits. As the Court stated in *Motes*, “Treatment of such benefits is less problematic than in the usual case. The present value of plaintiff’s share of the now-fixed stream of income, which the benefits have become, can be readily calculated and compensated for with distribution of other assets having an equivalent value or cashed out over a comparatively short time. That failing, provision can simply be made for plaintiff to receive her share monthly....” *Id.*, 786 P.2d 232, 234. Mrs. Bayles currently receives her share of the retirement stream of income monthly; she also pays a proportionate share of the cost for her survivor benefit monthly, which reduces her share of the monthly retirement stream. The Court exercised sound discretion in using another asset (the five-acre parcel) to compensate Mr. Bayles for the amount he pays monthly for the cost of the survivor benefit.

This case raises an issue previously addressed in *Burt v. Burt*, 799 P.2d 1166 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In that case, Mrs. Burt also sought a share of the survivor annuity benefit incident to Mr. Burt’s government retirement benefit. At footnote 8, the court stated that “while a present settlement is preferable, the trial court may award the defendant a share of the income stream from the retirement benefits as they are paid, not in the form of alimony but as a property award not terminable upon remarriage.” The cost for the survivor annuity

benefit was treated in a similar fashion, “fixing a present value and considering that sum in the distribution scheme, or awarding the defendant an interest in the annuity to protect her right to continued payment of the retirement income.” 799 P.2d 1166, 1171. In the instant case, the trial court considered the present value of the future cost to preserve the survivor annuity benefit, and considered that present value in awarding Mr. Bayles the five-acre parcel of property but ordering that he continue to bear the burden of 79% of the cost of the survivor benefit.


The trial court in this case, in the sound exercise of its discretion, fashioned an equitable solution which not only resolved the issue of the continuing payment for the survivor benefit, but also once and for all removed as a bone of contention between the parties the final parcel of California property which remained unsold. The total award is not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Bayles has failed in his initial burden of marshalling the evidence in support of the findings of the trial Court, and therefore the Court on appeal should not reach the merits of his case. However, to the extent that he had the right to demand that Mrs. Bayles comply with the terms of contracts entered into with third parties, he waived the right to demand compliance when he tendered payment before making such demands. The trial court admirably met its burden of equitably dividing the marital properties of the parties when it preserved the existing payment structure for the cost of Mrs. Bayles’ survivor benefit, but awarded Mr. Bayles the five-acre parcel as an offset to cost he pays. The

allocation of payment for the survivor benefit cannot be considered in a vacuum, but only in context of the entire order, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering that order. The Order Modifying Decree of Divorce should be affirmed.